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at Bengal. He regarded our successes in India in the same
light that he regarded our successes in the Peninsula, asa
series of mistakes, and Hastings and Wellington he con-
sidered to be both bunglers. The appointment of Lord
Minto to the Governor-Gegeralship put an end to the
dream of his life. He never recovered the disappointment,
and the bitter remembrance of failure accompanied him
into retirement. On March 25, 1807, he asked a few
questions on the affairs qf India, mcludmg the mutiny of
Vellore, and this was the last act of the long and active
political career of Philip Francis.’

Such was the man, and such were his qualities. He
was fated, by what would seem some irony of fortune, to
cross with evil intent the path of a great ruler, whose only
thought was the welfare of the mighty destinies entrusted
to his care. No one can understand either the character or
the services of Warren Hastings, who does not know and
estimate the obstacles, the delays, the provocations, raised
against him through five weary years by the craft and
perversity of Philip Francis. It was well for Great Britain
that while the genius of the Governor-General showed itself
equal to any emergency of war or diplomacy, he possessed
also a tranquillity of patience, marvellous alike in its kind
and degree, that was capable of enduring any disappoint-
ments and any crosses. It was that gift of calmness which,
perhaps more than any other quality, baffled the designs of
Francis and saved British India.

! Macaulay says of him: ‘We believe that there never was a public
man whose temper was so severely tried; not Marlborough, when
thwarted by the Dutch deputies; not Wellington, when he had to
deal at once with the Portuguese Regency, the Spanish Juntas, and
Mr. Perceval.” But the temper of Hastings was equal to almost any
trial. It was not sweet ; but it was calm.’— Essay.



CHAP'I;EK v
HYDER ALI

THE contest, whether military o1 diplomatic, which had
for some time been cgriied on with thc Mahratta confeder-
acy had becn most disappointing. Rashly begun by the
Bombay Government, to the marked displeasure of the
Governor-General ; made worse by the hostile majority in
the Council who refused the advice of their chief; weakened
by the retrocession of an army when victorious in the field ;
complicated further by an unsatisfactory treaty which
proved to be only a hollow truce; and wellnigh ruined by
the failuic of a weak expedition sent from Bombay after the
rencwed declaiation of war; it had been marked with
misfortune fiom the first, and was still, notwithstanding
the brilliant cffoits of General Goddard, causing great
anxiety to the Bengal Government. Francis continually
urged peace at any price, but Wairen Iastings, tenacious
of his purpose, had devised, with the approval of Goddard,
a diveision in the northern part of the Mahratta territory,
which might cnable that vigorous commander to strike
a blow at Pcona. Such was the statc of things when
a terrible disaster and a new combination of foes threatened
the British rule in Hindustan with destruction.

It will be remembered that in consequence of the
declaration of war by France, the French settlements in
India were, by oider of the Governor-Genesal, occupied
by our troops. Pondicherry, much the most important
on the Cororaandel coast, had been captured after a brave
resistance, and the Medras Government had then proceeded
to deal with Mah¢.

Now that small seaport was under the immediate pro-
tection of Hyder Ali, the powerful ruler of Mysore, who
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had expressly warned the Madras authorities that he would
not submit to its occupation. They had already given
him offence on otber grounds, and now fatuously provoked
his anger still further, by seizing Mahé. Their whole policy
had been rash and blundexzing in the extreme, and they
contrived, by a foolish intrigue with the brother of the
Nizam, to add that potentate to the lengthening roll of
our enemies.

It was on September %5 1780, that the Governor-General
convened his Council to meet as forthidable a crisis as ever
befell a State. The gccumulated dangers were nothing less
than appalling. Thirty thousand Mahratta horse were
encamped on the western frontier of Bengal. An invasion
of Behar by the sam® enemy scemed to be imminent.
Oude was threatened. The Maharajah Scindia stood ready
to fall upon Korah and Allahabad. The whole power
of Poona confronted General Goddard, But there was
worse news behind.  Hyder Ali had descended in force on
the Carnatic and was sweeping over it with firc and sword.
With the fatuity which marked all the measures of the
Madras Government, the British forces, not more than
enough to resist if kept well together, had been, in defiance
of all rules of sound strategy, divided into two separate
bodies. These had been assailed in succession by Hyder,
and while one part under Colonel Baillic had been sur-
rounded and annihilated, the other under Sir Hector Munro
had been driven back in defeat, and been forced to take
refuge under the guns of Fort St. George. Sir Edward
Hughes, the Admiral in command on the Indian station,
sent tidings of having received undoubted intclligence that
seven sail ¢f the line, with a force of seven thousand soldiers,
had left France to co-operate with the enemies of England
in India. In Madras all was helpless confusion and dismay.
In Calcutta many hearts, not withgut reason, were failing
them for fear at the extremity. But there was one man
whose heart failed not and.whosc spirit rose high to the
emergency’. Chatham, in a moment bf national peril,
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is said to have exclaimed, ‘I can save the country, and
nobody else can.’ At that memorable September Council,
Warren Hastings might, without assumption, have used the
same words. Certain it is that if any accident had befallen
him at that time, if the bullet cif Francis had gone straight,
British India would have been iost. But Warren Hastings
was there at the helm, and by his capacity and resolution
saved the empire committed to his charge.

It is astonishing to read the Minutes of that 25th Sep-
tember and following*day, and {0 see how instantly the
Governor-General had grasped the necessitics of the crisis,
and with what energy he met them. He threw over at
once, without a regret, his cherished plans for the Mahratta
war; he faced, without a thought!of fear, the imminent
dangers to Bengal and the adjacent provinces; his whole
mind was bent on the-one object, that of saving the Carnatic
and averting a junction of the French forces with Hyder
Ali.  For this he was ready to empty his tieasury, already
depleted ; for this to send off his best troops, and, what was
much more, his invincible commander ; like a true strategist,
he risked all to strike hard at the vital point; for this he
adjured his Council, and his opening words have a force
and dignity that were all his own :—

‘ This is not a time cither for long deliberation at home
o1 the formal and tedious process of ncgotiation abroad.
The calamity which has befallen us upon the Coast, and the
alarming superiority which Hyder Ali Khan has acquired
in the Carnatic, the despondency of the Government of
Fort St. George, the consternation and distrust which seem
to have spread themselves among all those who are subject
to its authcrity, the utter want of present means and
resources, the diminution of their military strcngth and its
declared insufficiency for the war which it is to sustain,
and above all the auttlentic informations which we have
received of a great naval and military armament prepared
by the Couxt of France and, destined beyond all doubt
to co-operate with Hyder Ali, demand the mist instant,
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powerful, and even hazardous exertions of this Government
to avert the event portended by so many concurrent diffi-
culties. To this point every other consideration must now
give place. Without further preface I propose the following
resolutions: 0

‘1st. That the sum of fifteen lacs of rupees be immedi-
ately sent to Fort St. George in specie, and laden for that
purpose in the Duke of Kingston, and the other vessels
which are now on the pqint of sailing for Madras.

‘2nd. That the treasure deposited in the new fort, includ-
ing the moiety lately taken from it, be all replaced in the
general treasury, to be applied to the preceding purpose
and other exigencies of this Government.

% 3rd. That a large dttachment of European infantry and
artillery be immediately sent to Fort St. George by the
Duke of Kingston and the other vessels which are now
on the point of sailing for Madras.

‘To this proposition, as a necessary and essential part of
it, I must add the following, viz. that the Commander-in-
Chief be requested, and I do for my own part make it my
most earnest and particular request, that he will proceed
himself immediately to the Coast, and take the command
of the army on that establishment,

‘[ The Commander-in-Chief will pardon this formal and
official solicitation. 1 know the ardour of his zeal for the
public service, and that this principle will of itselt impel
him wherever it shall most require his presence; but I think
this a case in which it would mark too great an indifference
to the public welfare, and too cold a sense of the utility of
his services, to leave the offer of them to his unsolicited
option. Ignake no scruple to avow that although I am
convinced that the danger impending on our interests in the
Carnatic might be easily repelled even with the force which
it already possesses for its defence, yet I cannot place any
reliance upon it, unless it shall be properly applied and
conducted ; that I do notsthink it has been properly
applied, ndr expect that it will be properly conducted,
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unless Sir Eyre Coote will at this crisis stand forth in his
own person and vindicate the rights and honour of the
British arms. I mean not o compliment. It is military
experience, and above all the high estimation in which his
name is held by the world, ang especially by that part of
it where it was primarily acquired, mark him as the only
possible instrument to retrieve our past disgraces, or to
preserve the British interests and possessions in the Carnatic
from utter ruin. Our, armies which have been so long
formed to the habits of conquest, will not easily recover
from the impression of the dreadful rewerse which has lately
befallen them, nor be brought to act with their former
cenfidence under unsuccesstul commanders. The addition
of numbers will not relieve their apprehensions, and will
not but contribute to oppress the hands which have been
already proved too weak to sustain the weight of an
inferior charge]’%

It is sufficient proof of the urgency which Warren Hastings
attached to these three resolutions, that the fourth which he
moved commenced as follows : —

‘That an immediate offer of peace be made to the
Mahratta State in the mode and on the conditions follow-
ing: That as the Ministers of that State have professed
a desire for peace which has been equally the wish of this
Government even from the commencement of the war, and
as the attainment of it seems to have been hitherto impeded
by the difficulty of managing a negotiation between the
principals situated at so great a distance from ecach other,
to preclude all further delays we do at the same time offer
peace and bind ourselves to the observance of it on their
acceptance and ratification of the following conditions.’

These conditions, speaking broadly, were that all acquisi-
tions made by our forces should be restored, saving any
which had been ceded by treaty to other States: that
Raghoba should receive a fitting maintenance for life, but

1 State Pagers, Vol 11, pp. 718-19.
* 1bid., pp. 719-20.
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be precluded from advancing any pretension Lo power save
by the universal consent of Mahratta rulers: that the
Peishwa should conclude an alliance, offensive and defensive,
with the Company, against Hyder Ali and the French: but
that if this alliance should not be agreed to, peace should
nevertheless be concluded, each party retaining what it had
acquired, or that a suspension of hostilities should take
place for one year, to give time for a final and perpetual
adjustment. The treaty,to be conclyded with the mediation
of Rajah Moodajee Boosla.!

To say that the psoposal of these terms to the Peishwa’s
government must have becn a sore trial to the pride of
Warren Hastings is %nly to give the highest tribute to
his wisdom and patriotism.

The further consideration of the resolutions was ad-
journed till the following day. Then Francis delivered
his opinion. It was characteristic. The same political
cowardice which made him advise a purely defensive atti-
tude when the news of Burgoyne’s surrender had arrived,
again took possession of him, and he had no better counsel
to offer than that all the troops should be kept in Bengal
to defend that province. The Carnatic was to be aban-
doned to destruction in order that Bengal might be safe.
He was also opposed to the grant of the fifteen lacs of
rupees, and entered into a long arithmetical calculation to
show that it could not be afforded. He may have been
right or may have been wrong in his figures; but what
can be said of the statesmanship which at this stupendous
crisis dealt with public policy in the spirit of a prudent
tradesman casting up his ledger? A mighty dependency
was to be dost or saved ; the fame of England was at stake ;
and Philip Francis did a sum.? This was the man whose
one ambition was to supersede Warren Hastings as Governor-
General ; this was the policy he would have chosen to pursue.

! A Chief whom Warren Hastings by assiduous, setret negotiation,
converted fmom an enemy to a friend.
¥ State Pagers, Vol. 11, pp. 721 -2.
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But the power for evil had departed from his hands. For
some little time the Minutes of Council had recorded the
entry, ¢ Lieutenant-General Sir Eyre Coote absent on a visit
to the different stations of the Army.” It was during these
absences that Francis had seized¢the opportunity to obstruct
the war policy of the Governor-General. Sir Eyre Coote
was now present ; a veteran of Indian war, he did not hesi-
tate as to the course he should follow; he gave his voice
with that of the Governor-General jn support of the resolu-
tions. Francis and Wheler stood together in opposition.
Warren Hastings gave his casting votg in favour, and that
vote pieserved India to the British Crown. It may be
doubtful whether in the long course of English history any
public step of more endwming moment was ever taken
What is not doubtful is that no public service was ever
worse requited.

On the 1oth of October the Governor-General stiuck
another memorable blow; he superseded the incapable
Governor at Madras. Macaulay, who, to do him justice,
fully admits the value of Warren Hastings’ services at this
critical time, speaks of the transaction as if it had been
a mere exertion of arbitrary power on the part of the
Governor-General.!  That indeed might have been morally
permissible under such grave circumstances ; but it was not
the course pursued. There can be no doubt that Warren
Hastings regarded the conduct of the Madras Governor
with indignation and scorn, and was resolved to be well quit
of him. But as usual he gave no rein to his passions; he
acted with coolness and legality. It had happened for-
tunately that the Madras authorities had, by their own
imprudence and misconduct, brought themselvesyinto peril
of the law. By a section of the Regulating Act the
Councils at Madras and Bombay wecre precluded from
entering upon wars or making treaties without the sanction

¥ ¢It was no &ime for trifling. Hastings determined to resort to an

extreme exercise of power, to suspend the incapable overnor of
Fort St. George.'—Ejssay.
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of the supreme authority at Calcutta. Now the President
at Madras, in flagrant violation of this provision, had
entered into secret negotiations with one Bazalet Jung,
a brother of the Nizam, for the cession to the Company of
a territory (Gantoor) in oge of the Circars. This intrigue
was the more reprehensible inasmuch as the Governor-
General had specially cautioned the Madras Council against
any proceeding which might give umbrage to the Nizam,
with whom, as he pointgd out, we were under treaty obliga-
tions. Not only did Mr. Whitehill persist, against express
orders, in this objegtionable course, but he added to his
misdeeds by concealing all information of what was taking
place, for no less th%n nine months, from the superior
authority at Calcutta. Moreover, he had disregarded the
express injunctions of the Governor-General to withdraw
the troops, as well as the rent collectors, which had been
sent into the coveted district of Gantoor, and both were
there still, in open dcfiance of the Nizam’s rights.

Warren Hastings was the last man to suffer such en-
croachment on his statutory powers. He had sternly
rebuked the Bombay Council for entering into a treaty with
Raghoba without his sanction ; and he now resolved to avail
himself, against the Madras authoritics, of their contumacious
infraction of the Act. Doubtless the indignation which he
felt at their incompetence in public business and their mis-
management of the war moved him strongly ; but he acted
nevertheless on strict legal grounds, and confined his indict.
ment to the offences committed. After quoting to his
Council the exact words of the Section in the Regulating
Act which applied to the case, and detailing at length
the misdemeanours at Madras, he moved :—

‘For an attempt in the Select Committee of Fort
St. George to make a treaty with Bazalet Jung in direct
violation of a former treaty then eubsisting between the
Company and the Nizam.

‘For presummg to hold %he Circar of Gantoor, at all
events in defiance of a requisition from the Governor-
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General and Council peremptorily made to restore it, and
for refusing to withdraw their troops therefrom, and to
remove their Agents and Collectors from it,—knowing as
they did that we had formally pledged the faith of the
Company to the Nizam for both these points, thereby de-
grading the authority, weakening the energy, and preventing
the efficacy of the powers of this Government.

“ For the contemptuous indifference shown to this Board,
and the want of even common respect in suffering so long
a time to clapse before they rcplied to orders of such
importance, or allowed them ary congideration, and even
when they did, for cluding the effect of those ordears.

¢ And lastly, for the insult offered to the high commission
which we bear in permitting any otfier claims to stand in
competition with the deliberate resolves of the Government.

¢ Under circumstances of such aggravation, so unpardon-
able in their very nature, and so dangerous in their conse-
quences that nothing short of instant cxampie can preserve
the supremacy of the responsible Government and give
credit to its acts, I now move that John Whitehill Esq. be
suspended from his officc of President and Governor of Fort
St. George by order of the Governor-General and Council
of this Presidency, according to the Regulating Act of
Parliament of the 13th of George III, delegating powers to
them for that purpose.’!

All the members of Council present voted for the motion.
As it was consideied that a measure of such importance
should not be carried finally without the concurience of
every member, the Minutes were sent to Sir Eyre Coote,
who was absent on service, and he returned them with the
following entry : < I agrec to the suspension of Mr, Whitehill,
upon the grounds of the Governor-General’s declarations as
a measure to preserve and support the authority of the
Supreme Government.« We must, from the powers vested
in us, be hcld‘rel‘ponsible for the consequences of those acts
of disobedience wh:ch we sufffr to pass unnoticed or un-

i Smre Papers, Vol. 11, p. 727.
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corrected.” This concise and sensible deliverance made the
unanimity of the Council complete.

That the measure thus recorded was a strong, though
most salutary, exercise of power goes without saying ; but
it was something quite different from the despotic pro-
ceeding suggested by the words of Macaulay. It is one of,
at least, a score of passages in his Essay which are in direct
variance from the actual facts.

Sir Eyre Coote landgd at Madrag on November 5, with
a small but cfficient force of infantry and artillery. He
at once took steps §o remedy the existing misgovernment
and to meet impending dangers. He carried out, with
tgct and coolness, the delicate task of suspending the
Governor from officc.® Mr. Whitehill having intimated
resistance to the order of deposition, Coote quietly asked
the Members present whether they admitted the authority
of the Supreme Council.  They could not directly dispute
it, and he then moved that the second Member of Council,
Mr. Charles Smith, should take the Chair, which was
carried. On this, Mr. Whitehill left the room, with a threat
of legal proceedings against the Governor-General.! Of
these proceedings nothing more was heard, and it may be
added that when a full report of the facts rcached the
Directors of the Company they summarily dismissed White-
hill from their service.

The military affaiis presented much greater difficulties.
The first news which Sir Eyre Coote received on his arrival
was that Arcot, the capital of the Carnatic, had fallen.
Hyder Ali had taken up his residence in that city and
openly claimed the sovereignty of the country. In his letter
to the Goygernor-General, dated the 10th November, Coote
mentioned, as one of the alarming features of the situation,
what skill and resource had been exhibited by Hyder's
army during the siege. Our own.forces were dispirited,
there was a great want both of food and of transport, and
Coote pointed out the urgent necessity of siipplying him

1 State Pagers,Vol. 11, p. 746.
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with an Adjutant-General on whom he could rely. The
concluding passage of the letter shows the straits he was
in: ‘I went yesterday to review the army encamped five
miles from hence ; appearances not in their favour, but what
is worse, I found from the offices in command of the sepoys
that the capture of Arcot, from whence they must come,
has, from the circumstance of their wives and other near
relations being there, not only dispirited them, but crcated
in them that kind of aversion to, the service which has
already produced many desertions.  Judge from this, how
anxious I must be for a recruit of jepoys from Bengal,
even if the detachment, which is to come by land, has set
out, as it is impossible for W to reach me for these four
months to come, long before which Yime I conceive every-
thing will be settled onc way o1 the other. . .. When at
camp I was surprised to regard their supply of provisions,
which I found to come in so scanty as to be scarcely suffi-
cient for one day’s expense. Thc town of Madras now
lives on the supply lately come from your quarter, of which
there is not enough in store for one month’s expenditure.
The country around affords us no assistance. They promise
us a supply of grain from the north, but none is likely
to arrive soon, in short, we have no certain dependence but
from Bengal’’ Such was the posilion, bordering on the
desperate, in which this great Commander was placed.

But he showed himself equal to the occasion, rese superior
to all obstacles, and on the 1st of January took the field.
Twenty days after he was able to write to Madras that ‘ to
the utter honour of the officers and men composing this de-
tachment, the Fort of Carangoly was taken, and in a manner
which redounds much to the credit of their bravgey.' It was
indeed a signal achievement. The troops reached the Fort
at early morning, and without waiting for any siege opera-
tions, and with no artillery but a single twelve-pounder gun
dragged by Lascars they forced the outer gate, and then,
by aid of the | gun, two inner gates in succession, and carried

2 State Papers, Vol. 11, pp. 747-8.
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the Fort with a rush, the bulk of the garrison making their
escape over the wall on the opposite side.! It was a portent
of future victory. Hyder Ali was at that time investing
five fortresses commanded by English officers,—Ambur,
Vellore, Wandewash, Permagoil, and Chingleput. The first
was forced to surrender before help could reach it. But
Coote relieved Chingleput and marched on the 24th to
Wandewash, where he found that the siege had been raised.
He marched on to Permacoil with the same result, the
enemy falling back at each place before the terror of his
name. Rut when he had marched only three miles further,
he heard that the French fleet of seven sail of the line and
three frigates had appeared before Madras. ‘As I had
cvlry reason to apprehemd they must have brought troops,
and that they would land them and would, with the forces
of Hyder, have laid siege to Madras, the security of which
being the grand national object, I resolved to move towards
its protection.’ On further intelligence that the French
fleet had sailed to Pondicherry, the aged but unwearied
Commander resolved at all 1isks to move there, and within
a few days his army was encamped on the Red Hills of
Pondicherry with its front towards Arcot. He occupied
the town with a detachment, destroyed the boats which
supplied the French fleet with provisions and water, and
spiked the guns of the place. But not a grain of rice
or any other provision could be procured. <In the hope
that by my personal presence something effectual might be
done towards obtaining supplies, I set out for Pondicherry
on the 7th on horseback, and had just entered the bound
hedge when I received a note express from camp informing
me that Hyder with his whole army was in sight ; instantly
I sent orders to the detachment in Pondicherry to join the
main body with all expedition, and returned myself to
camp.’ Perceiving that Hyder was rpoving in great force
to the southward, wjith the intention of attacking Cuddalore,
Coote struck his camp and mgarched to the rdief of that
State Papers, Vol, I11, pp. 757-&
I
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Fort. The army of Hyder rapidly followed and, over-
taking our force, opened a heavy fire upon its ranks. But
Coote had only one aim in view, to reach Cuddalore before
the enemy, and disregarding their fire, which does not seem
to have been particularly effective, he pushed on and secured
his object. Cuddalore was saved; but the situation was
most critical. * There was only rice enough for one day’s
subsistence for the fighting men of the army. The alarming
prospect which this presented me with, produced feelings
which are much easier to be imagined than described.
I saw in the fall of this handful gf men the destruction
of the English interest in India. . . . What tq determine in
a situation 50 cuticdd, so difficalt, and in its consequences so
important, I confess was a questioh of which I dreaded ‘the
decision.” But the decision which he took was worthy of
Sir Eyre Coote and worthy of the English name! He
drew out his small army on a wide plain, and offcred battle.
Hyder, notwithstanding his gieatl superiority in numbers,
declined the challenge, and all attempts to bring on a
decisive action having proved fruitless, Coote, who had
effected his main object, returned to his encampment. On
the very day of his arrival the French fleet weighed anchor
and left the bay, and shortly after the rice vessels came in
from Madras, when all fear of famine was at an end. But
it may be well to quote what Sir Eyre Coote wrote at
the time, for it puts in a vivid light the enormous diffi-
culties he had had to cnconunter and the terrible risks he
had run.

‘By this t'me the inhabitants of the town were next
to starving, some absolutely had died from want, and two
days more would have completed the melangholy scene, as
the troops also must have been without a grain to eat.
I had by the aid of Mr. Daniel made a small provision
to have enablcd me fo act in this last extremity, and that
was about three days’ rice I had with inconceivable labour
got togetlier. And with vhich at a hazard dictated by

- State Papers, Vol. 111, p. 764.
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a regard for the public, an unwillingness to subject the
credit of the British arms to a disgrace which from their
situation appeared to be inevitable, and a desire, if possible,
to extricate our affairs from the distress in which they are
involved, I determined to force my way at all risks into the
Tanjore country, as the only place with three days’ pro-
visions I had the least chance of attaining and subsisting
the army in. The same motives which dictated this daring
undertaking—now our djstress for provisions is greatly
removed—induce me to continue in my station here, until
1 can reinforce the arrgy by drafts from the southward. . ,.
My army, osiginally small, stands greatly in need of an
augmentation, having been considerably weakened by the
respectable garrison left in Carangoly, and by deaths,
desertions, and the other casualties incident to the military
services.’! Such was the end of a short but memorable
campaign, in which Sir Eyre Coote showed, to the confusion
of future detractors, that age and ill-health had not im-
paired his mental faculties nor quenched the fire of his
dauntless courage.

After some months of inaction necessitated by the want
of transport and provisions, which was largely owing to the
neglect of the Madras Government,* Coote on the 18th of
June again took the field. He failed in an attack on the
fortified temple of Chillumbrum, and marched on to Porto

V State Papers, Vol. 111, pp. 764-5.

? Extract from a letter from Lieutenant-General Sir Eyre Coote,
Maxch 16, 1781 : ‘I am now most cruelly situated, the enemy marching
before me, and for want of carriage for provisions unable to follow
them. I stated this to you fully in my letter of the 14th, by which
you will learn that I can hardly carry one day’s provisions for the
army. The uinformed world will be apt to condemn the tardi-
ness of my motions, and which, I am sorry to observe, knowing
what I could do were 1 provided as I ought to have been, I feel as
a severe blow to my honour and military character. However,
I comfort myself in the reflection, that when the real state of
things comes to be fore generally known, I shall po longer be
exposed to the unmerited blame, Rither from the public, or from
individuals,’

12
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Novo, situated on the river Vellaar close to the sea. On
the 24th Admiral Sir Edward Hughes, a commander as
vigorous and daring by sea as Coote was by land, arrived
from Madras. The two conferred, and at first resolved
to unite their forces for the reduction of Chillumbrum. For
this purpose the battering train was ordered to be landed.
But no sooner had Eyre Coote returned to camp than
tidings reached him of the presence of Hyder’s whole army
within a few miles. ¢ The grounds they occupied, naturally
strong and commanding,” wrote Coote, ‘ were rendered much
more formidable by most of the spojs that would admit of
it to advantage being strengthened with front.and flanking
batteries. Laige bodics of cavalry, who had from our
arrival at Porto Novo hovered rouhd our camp, rendered it
impracticable for even a single hircarrah to return with any
intelligence to be depended on of either the strength
or position of the enemy’s batteries. Our grand guard and
other outposts were absolutely the boundaiy and united
extent of our knowledge respecting the enemy.”! Coote
had now to choose between marching to scek a fight
and remaining to depend for supplies upon the sca. He
called a council of war. It was determined thereat to
embark the battering train, to give the soldiers four days’
provision of rice to be carried on their backs, and then to
strike for victory. The Admiral undertook to remain off
the coast to aid in case of disaster. Bad weather detained
the army for a couple of days, but on the first of July they
marched at dawn, gaining the open plain, where they were
“formed in two lines and advanced in battle array. But it
was found that Hyder's batteries directly commanded the
line of advance, and Coote, as prudent as hg was daring,
halted to reconnoitre.  He discovered that in the sand-hills
on his right there was a nariow passage, made in fact
by Hyder for the ¢onvenience of carriage, and this was
instantly occupied. The first line was passed through
the small‘entry in single file, and was reformed in line
1 State Papers, Vol. 111, pp. 790-1.
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beyond. By order of the General the second line was
moved up to secure the passage and thus protect his rear.
Coote with the first line, though exposed to a heavy
cannonade, waited with coolness till assured that the second
line was in position, and then,advanced as rapidly as good
order would permit. Their movement, skilfully directed
by Coote, had turned the left flank of the enemy, and after
a two hours’ stubborn fight Hyder's position was carried,
and his whole army, which had swarmed over the plain,
was in disorderly retreat. Want of cavalry prevented any
effective pursuit (Cootg said that with an adequate cavalry
he should have driven Hyder back through the Ghauts)
but nevertheless the victory was decisive. The siege of
Wandewash was raised By Tippoo, while Hyder fell back
to Arcot, and abandoned his designs on the southern
provinces of the Presidency. More fighting was to come,
but the ultimate end of the war began with this triumph.
Macaulay. in his somewhat depreciatory remarks on Sir
Eyre Coote, says that he was not now the Coote of Wande-
wash. No, he was not; time and hard service forbade the
possibility ; but he was the Coote of Porto Novo, a battle
fought by a small band against an oveiwhelming force,
fought with consummate skill as well as unsurpassable
courage, and wou by the hazardous but brilliant manceuvre
of changing front in presence of the encmy. Let us hear
Sir Eyre Coote himself, as he speaks in his dispatch!:—
¢ Considering the trying situation this army is in, destitute
of anost of the common resources for carrying on service;
weak draft and haidly any cariiage cattle (our guns in the
face of the enemy’s heaviest fire were through deep sand
obliged to bg drawn a full mile by the soldiers) ; no pro-
visions but from day to day ; pay considerably in arrears;
the principal part of the Carnatic and its capital in the
possession of the enemy; our armigs in different parts
of India having unfortunately received checks; an enemy
in great force to deal witl§ whose rapid #iccess has
¥ State Pagers, Vol. 111, p. 790 et sbq.
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strengthened his cause with the natives in an alarming
degree; no proper force of cavalry on our side, and not
half carriage sufficient for our wounded and sick. These
things considered, I think I may venture to say that fairly
to beat Hyder on his chosen fortified ground was as much
as could be expected.’

Shortly after this the brigade sent fiom Bengal under
Colonel Pearce, and skilfully led by him on the long march
by the coast,’ reached Pulicat, an inlet of the sea distant
some thirty miles from Madras, Hyder sent his son
Tippoo to intercept a junction between the two forces;
but Coote, crippled as he was by the want alike of transport
and of food, wag again sucuessful, marching a hundred and
fifty miles and joining the reinfoilement. This added’to
his numbers without, unfortunately, increasing the propor-
tion of his equipment. Hyder marched down his whole
army to oppose the return of our forces, but Coote again
placed a few days’ ricc on the backs of Lis men, and once
more moved up to attack Hyder on his own ground. On
the 26th of August a fierce encounte: took place and both
sides claimed the victory. But the substantial advantage
rested with Coote, and in the following month the still
unwearied commander forced Hyder to another engagement
and totally defeated him. This closed the campaign, for
the bursting of the monsocn and the want of provisions
compelled our army to enter into cantonments near Madras.
But the plans of Hyder had been bafflcd and his wellnigh
innumerzble host defeated by a small band of veteran
soldiers, fired by the spitrit and led by the genius of
Sir Eyre Coote.

But the efforts of that great commander for Jhis country’s
interests were at no distant date about to terminate.
Having heard that the garrison of Vellore was much dis-
tressed, he revolved tQ march to its relief. On January 2nd,
he placed himself once more at the head of his army, but

! This march had been renderet! practicable by the advance, on his
own responsibility,*of £30,000 by Warren Hastings. *
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on the 5th he was stricken with apoplexy and was found
unconscious in his tent. Before starting he had written to
say that his health had been so impaired by fatigue and
anxiety during thirteen months of the severest campaign
he had ever encountered that he had little hopes of recovery
except in retirement. Nevertheless, his patriotic sense of
duty had impelled him to relieve Vellore at all hazards.
The news of his illness was received everywhere with pro-
found dismay; but not less was the astonishment when it
was found that having somewhat recovered he had pushed
on at once in a pala.nqum On the gth he fell in with
Hyder, posied on the further side of the river Poonyr.
Coote at once crossed the stream with his forces, when the
efemy struck their camp and retreated. Next day they
attempted an attack on our convoy as it was passing
a swamp., Coote wrote:—* The attacking our baggage and
convoy for Vellore was apparently their grand object, and
the guarding this, not to be repaired, often rcquired the
utmost circumspection. They made their attack supported
by a number of heavy guns cannonading at a great distance;
just at this time, the first line had crossed a deep morass
which impeded both our train, rice carts, and bullocks very
much. The different brigades were immediately ordered
to be posted so as to keep the enemy in check on all sides
while our convoy passed the bad ground. The whole got
over safe and was secured at the head of our lines” All
this done and described by the man who, four days pre-
vipusly, had been stricken senseless with apoplexy and his
life despaired of! Next morning our army encamped
beneath the walls of Vellore. ‘The provisions and stores
to be depogited in the garrison will be lodged there this
afternoon, and as the object of our march is now happily
completed, I shall set off on my return to-morrow morning.
The spirit of the troops in this serwce does them the greatest
honour. This is the day the commandmg officer of Vellore
acquainted both Government,and me that it was absolutely
necessary te be relieved, that he could not hold out an hour
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longer” When on his return march Coote reached the
morass he found Hyder again there to dispute the passage.!
‘His 24 and 18 pounders, commanding a much more
considerable distance than our light 6’s and 12’s, give him
an opportunity of attempting these distant cannonades with
an idea of some success, and Hyder always takes care to
be certain that there is impcding or impassable ground
between his army and our’s.. .. The instant the rear and
baggage had crossed the morass, I posted my baggage and
stores close to an adjommg hill, and pushed on the army
over high ground by the nearest pgssible route for the
enemy’s main body and guns. I moved off from the left
lines, in column first, and a> the ground opened sufﬁciently
for forming, marched on in line of Hattle. As soon as our
army was near enough to do execution, we opened an
advancing fire of artillery from all parts, and had the
mortification to sec the enemy precipitately draw off.
I term it a mortification, for if Hyder would have stood
and risked the chance of war for one hour, his army would,
in all probability, have been destroyed, such is the ardour
and power of the handful of veterans I have the honour of
commanding, but truly distressing our situation for the
want of proper magazines, means of field subsistence and
carriage for it.” On reaching Fort St. George, Coote made
a bitter complaint of the negligence of the Madras Govern-
ment. ‘I can have, he wrote, ‘no dependence on the
army being found in such a manner as to enable me to
conduct 1t to such operations as would produce the most
permanent advantages and do that justice which my zeal
for the interests of the Company and honour of the British
arms prompts me to. I must resign the task ang leave it to
the execution of some one whose health and abilities may
be better calculated tc surmount those difficulties which
I can no longer, in a dye regard to the cause of the public
and my honour and reputation as a saoldier, pretend to
contend agaimst.’? That is, to put it distinctly, the man
1 State Papers, ¥ol, 111, p. 841. ® Ibid!, p. 842.
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who was daily risking his life from exhaustion, through his
wonderful exertions in their service, could not obtain the
ordinary supplics of war from this execrable Government
of the Madras Presidency.

The truth is that Sir Eyre Coote’s plans would have
altogether failed and the Carnatic would have been lost, but
for the energy and persistence with which supplies had been
poured in from Bengal under the direction of Warren
Hastings. It was his ability which sustained the war.
But even he would have been baffled if the command of the
sea had been lost. A Captain Mahan, in his remarkable
work, has shown how often, throughout the history of man-
kind, the fortune of war has been decided by the effect
of sea-power. As eaily as the contest between Rome and
Carthage, the result of the second Punic war (despite the
genius of Hannibal) was decided by the preponderance
of Roman naval power in the Mediterranean. Nor is it
less interesting, at least for Englishmen, to note the decisive
influence on the fate of the Carnatic exerted by the conduct
of our seamen in Eastern waters. The French Government
was fully alive to the situation and sent their very capable
Admiral, Suffrein, with twelve sail of the line and a propor-
tionate number of frigates to guard their transports crowded
with soldiers, to harry British commerce, and to destroy, as
it was hoped, the squadron commanded by Sir Edward
Hughes. Had this project succeeded the fate of the
Camatic would have been sealed.

« But England’s star prevailed. On March 15, 1782,
Admiral Suffrein arrived with his formidable force off the
roads of Madras. He had expected to find there six sail of
the line, Rt on the evening before our squadron had
happily received a reinforcement from England of three
sail of the line. The behaviour of the two Admirals under
these circumstances was instructive. | The French Admiral,
finding that he wyould have to fight nine sail of the line
instead of six, though his cwn pennant fleweover a force
of twelve, hauled his wind and sailed away to the south-
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ward.! The English Admiral, disregarding his inferiority
in numbers, immediately made the signal to weigh anchor,
and pursued the French fleet through the night. On the
following day he came up with them, struck in between
the fighting ships and the transports, captured the Lawris-
for and rescued six valuable prizes from their captors under
the eyes of the hostile fleet. Want of wind on the following
morning prevented Sir Edward Hughes from coming to
close quarters with his foe, but in thc afternoon some fresh
gusts brought him the opportumty and he forced Suffrein
to action. After some hours’ confli¢t during which the
flagship and some others of our squadion (being engaged
five against eight) suffered ceverely fiom the supetior fire of
the enemy, the French Admiral &pparently despairing
of success hauled his wind and drew off. The Superd and
Ezxeter werce in almost sinking condition, but the whole
squadron was brought safe into Trincomalee.? Sir Edward
Hughes who, if he had lived later would have been a
colleague after Nelson’s own heart, patched up his ships
in mast and hull, making them tolerably fit for service, and
set sail again to seek Suffrein and to guard the coasts
of Coromandel.

The news of this gallant action was received with much
relief and satisfaction in Calcutta. The Governor-General,
after icading the dispatch, ordered a general salute to
be fired from Fort Williata in token of victorv, and wrote
a warm letter of congratulation to Sir Ildward Hughes,
‘We know not whether most to admire or applaud that
gallant spirit and zeal for the service of your country which
prompted you to pursue an enemy so superior in numbers

1 Sir Eyre Coote, in his dispatch of March 1, 1781,%hus wrote:
‘I need not take up your time with commenting on the conduct
of the French Admural, o~ describing the injuries we must*have
suffered, and th= nsk we must have run, if he had acted with common
spint. I may vith safety®advance, that we arz entirely indebted
to his 1rresolutti hehaviour for the !:ttle security we now enjoy on
this coast.’

3 State Papers, Vok 111, pp. 851-2.
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and resolutely to force him into action under the additional
disadvantages created by the circumstances which you have
described. . . . In a word we regard your action with the
French fleet as the crisis of our fate in the Carnatic, and in
the result of it we see that province relieved and preserved,
and the permanency of the British power in India firmly
established. For such important services to the nation and
to the Company we, as their representatives, offer you our
warmest acknowled gments, and our gincerest congratulations
on your success and the glory you have acquired in obtain-
ing it’? Tt will be observed that Warren Hastings, with
his unfailipg prescience, saw at once that the superiority
obtained at sea had settled the event of the war.

® Sir Edward Hughet had been able to refit his battered
ships in Trincomalee, because that port and also Negapatam
had been captured by a naval and military force sent out
by Lord Macartney, recently made Governor of Madras.
This expedition was disappioved by Sir Eyre Coote, whose
advice in the matter was disregarded, and although it was
successful at first his opinion as t¢ its imprudence was only
too soon justified. When Colonel Braithwaite, who was in
command of the force cmployed by land, led it back to
Tanjore, he suffered himself to be surprised by Tippoo and
surrounded by overwhelming numbers. After a most
gallant resistance, continued for more than twenty-four
hours, our commander had to surrender at discretion. This
was followed by the capturc of Cuddalore, and the landing
of two thousand French soldiers. Sir Eyre Coote once
more took the field. He wrote to the Government at
Madras: ‘I have a weight upon my shoulders that almost
bears me down. Worn out in constitution, I feel myself
unequal to the constant fatigues and anxieties attending my
situation. I shall, however, cndeavour as far as lays in my
power to stem the torrent that seems almost ready to
overwhelm us, npt doubting of your exertions to assist my

1 Stete Papers, Vol. 111, pp. 843-4.
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labours.’! He marched to Wandewash where twenty years
before he had defeated Lally. On the refusal of Hyder to
fight Coote pushed on towaids Pondicherry and foun the
enemy, with their French allies, strongly posted. A move
was then made in the directiop of Arni, where Hyder’s
principal magazine was situated. This drew him from his
strong position, and in the morning of the 2nd of June the
two armies were in close proximity. Coote, after providing
for his baggage, moved in two lines agai inst the rising ground
on which the enemy appeared in greatest force. His rear
was threatened by the numbers of the‘foc, but as at Porto
Novo, so here, he changed front in presence of the enemy
with celerity and success, When our army again advanced,
Hjyder's forces retreated in confusion.s Cootc came up with'
them about sunsct, when they werc engaged in crossing a
river, and captured a gun and ammunition. Want of
cavalry and want of provisions prevented him from taking
the greatest advantage of his victory. He wrote: * It has
been my misfortune ever since I took the ficld on the event
of every success, to have cause to lament my inability to
pursue the advantages open from victory for want of a
sufficiency of provisions. On the present occasion, had I
possessed the means of subsistence, I could not only have
driven Hyde: up the Ghauts, but most probably have got
hold of his grand magazine of Aini, which would most
assuredly have so fa1 ended the war as to have checked his
immediately returning in force to the Cainatic, whilst it
would have given to this army that very support which at,
this moment maintains his.'¢ This was the last of Sir
Eyre Coote’s victories.

On the same day that the intelligence of it artjved came
the news of another sca-fight. At the end of March the
French Admiral left Perto Novo to attack a fleet ofsour
Indiamen which had appeared off the coast. Sir Edward
Hughes at once went in pursuit, and fell in with the Su/zan

3 State Papers, Vole 111, p. 863. * Ibid., pp- 871, 872, 873.
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and Magnanime and their convoy of seven of the Company’s
ships. He acted with his usual decision. ‘The convoy I
immediately despatched to Madras roads, and took with
me the Sw/fan and Magnanime, steering a direct course for
Trincomalee, in order tq land the military stores and
reinforcements of troops fo1 this garrison, determined not to
seek the enemy’s squadron till that service was first
performed, nor to shun them if they fell in my way.
Hughes succeeded in reaching the, island of Ceylon about
fifteen miles south of Trincomalee, and bore away for that
place, followed by ghe Frerch fleet of cighteen sail. ‘On
the twelfth (of April) at daybieak, having altered the

osition of the enemy’s squadron and given them the wind
ﬁy bearing away, I ¢hw them crowding all the sail they
could after us, and their copper-bottomed ships coming fast
up with our rear, on which I immediately determined to
engage them. At g in the forenoon I made the signal for
the line of battle ahead on the starboard tack at two cables’
length distance, the enemy’s squadron then bearing north
by east, distant about six miles, and the wind at north by
east, they continued manccuvring their ships and changing
their position in their line till 15 minutes past noon, when
they bore down to engage His Majesty's squadron ; one
sail of them stretching along to engage our ships in the
van, and the other scven sails steering direct by on our
centre, the Swuperb, with the MMonmouth her second ahead,
and the Monarca her second astern; at half past one the
engagement began in the van of both squadrons, and at
three minutes after, I made the signal for a general engage-
ment ; the French Admiral and his second astern bore
down on the Superb within pistol shot, where he continued
giving and receiving a severe fire for nine minutes, and then
stod on, greatly damaged, to attack the Monmouth, at
that time engaged with another of, the enemy’s ships, and
made room for the ships in his rear to draw up to the attack
of our centre, where the emgagement was wadrmest. At 3,
the MonnPouth lost her main and mizzen masts, and drew
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out of the line to the leeward of our squadron. At 40
minutes past 3, being near the shore, I made the signal for
the squadron to wear and haul their wind in a line of
battle ahead on the larboard tack still engaging the enemy.
At 40 minutes past 5, being in.shoal water and fearing the
Monmouth might drift too near shore, I made the signal for
the squadron to prepare to anchor and hauled down the
signal for the line of battle. At 40 minutes past 6 the
enemy’s squadron in great disorder drew off to the eastward,
and the engagement ceased, at which time T anchored with
His Majesty’s squadron in order to repair our damages,
which on board the Superd and Monmounth were,very great
indeed, both in their hulls, masts, sails and ngging, nor had
any one ship of the squadron escaped without great injury
in her hull and masts, and all were much torn in their sails
and rigging.’?

For seven days the two fleets lay within shot of cach
other too disabled to fight or to sail. Then the Engiish
squadron returned to Trincomalee and the French to a
Dutch port. After having ‘refitted the several ships of the
squadron, and taken on board such of our recovered men as
could be serviceable, the English fleet returned at the end
of June, to Negapatam to watch the enemy’s squadron.’ 2
On the 5th of July the two fleets again came in sight, and
another desperate conflict took place. It ended in serious
loss on both sides, without the capture of anv ships. The
French were, however, compelled to avandon all idea of
capturing Negapatam.?

These naval operations, and their effect on the war were,
as already observed, a striking example of the results of
sea-power * but they were something more; they were a
proof that sea-power is not necessarily associated with
numerical superiority. Throughout the naval struggle for
victory in the Indian Qcean the odds, as far as numbers

1 State Papers, Vol. 111, p. 864 ? Ibid., p. 876.
*albid., Introd., p. Ixxxiv.
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were concerned, were never less than four to three in favour
of France. In the fight when Hughes first fell in with
Suffrein, those odds were as heavy as eight to five among
the ships engaged. Yet, at the end of that fierce encounter,
when the English flagship had been riddled with shot, and
two of her consorts were in a sinking condition, it was not
the English admiral, but the French, who hauled his wind
and declined further combat. It was not the greater
number, it was ¢ the man behind thg gun’, who carried the
day. To the honour of our Navy it should be remembered
that Warren Hastin;;s declared the event of the war had
been decided by Sir Edward Hughes and his seamen ;
it was their ‘sea-powcr’ which preserved the Carnatic;
But that power lay rdt in the number of their ships or
the weight of their guns; it lay in the unconquerable
resolution of the crews who sailed the one and served the
other.

Peace with the Mahrattas had now been secured. Warren
Hastings had, originally, been driven into the war, and
through the whole contest had earnestly desired some
pacific settlement, though he firmly refused to make peace
at any price, and always maintained that it would be best
brought about by a vigorous prosccution of hostilities.
The Governor-General had been for some time indefatigable
in his efforts to conciliate Scindia, the most powerful and
the most statesmanlike of the Mahratta Chiefs. At length
after long and intricate negotiations and a successign of
disappointments, the treaty of Salbai was, on May 17,
1782, concluded with Scindia. All the territories conquered
from the Peishwa, subsequent to the treaty of Purundbar,
were to be yestored, the Nizam and Hyder Ali were also to
restore the territories they had taken from the English,and
all Europeans, except the English and the Portuguese,
were to be excluded from the Mahratta dominion. A small
increase of territgry was given to Scindia in acknowledge-
ment of his humanity to some of our countrymen, and he
became guwarantee for the due fulfilirznt of the treaty
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between the contracting parties.! Sir Eyre Coote wrote to
Hyder Ali, informing him of what had taken place, but the
old warrior only replied: ‘I have received your obliging
letter, wherein you observe that the news of the treaty of
alliance and friendship which bas taken place between the
Peishwa and the English must have been known to me,
because my name is included therein, all of which I
perfectly comprehend. Without giving me notice how is it
possible that my name can be included?’ He, however,
asked for an envoy to be sent t6 him with a copy of the
treaty. This was done, and it is 1mp05fsablc not to admire
the traits of character shown by Hyder in hig conference
with the vakeel He pas.ed high and generous praise on
Sir Eyre Coote as a great commander and an excellefit
man, He declared that he had never desired war with the
English, but had been driven into it by their bad faith;
dwelling on the seizure of Mah¢ and on the failure of
the Madras authorities to fulfil theii tieaty stipulations
with him. He had not the worst of the argument,
and the interviews came to nothing. But Hyder was
now approaching eighty years of age, with a fatal disease
upon him, and he died soon after, leaving an injunction to
his son, Tippoo, to make peace on any terms with the
English.®

Previous to this Sir Eyre Coote, worn out with fatigue
and sickness, had returned to Bengal. The general officer
on whom the charge of the operations then devolved was
not equz! to the situation. Tippoo, disregarding his fathe; s
wise advice, continued the contest, though with less a.bxllty,
and the war dragged on without any decisive result. Under
these circumstances Warren Hastings made a second appeal
to the vetcran commander, who possessed the confidence of
the army and could strike terror into his opponents.  Eyre
Coote, though not yet recovered from his illness, once more,
with signal patriotisni, consented to place himself at the
head of the grmy in the Carnatic. He sailed from Calcutta

1 State Papers, Jntrod., p. Ixxxv, 2 Ibid.,m. bocxvii,
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for that purpose, but it chanced that the vessel conveying
him was chased on the voyage by French cruisers, and the
anxiety that he felt during many hours, aggravated by the
fact that he had his family with him on board, produced a
fatal effect. On reaching Madras, before landing, he was
smitten with paralysis, and died two days after being carried
ashore, a victim to his sense of public duty. England lost
in him a great military commander and a devoted servant
to the State. Hc was gdored by hjs soldiers, Native as
well as European, and under his leadership they could and
did achieve marvels. [t is painful to read the expressions
which Macaulay, in his Essay on Warren Hastings, thinks
fit to use of so distinguished a soldier. Not content with
saying of him that he whs no longer the Coote of Wande-
wash (the scene of his famous victory over the French
general, Lally) and thus belittling his success at Porto Novo
and Arni, he speaks of him in these words: ‘Coote had no
longer the bodily activity which he had shown in carlier
days; nor was the vigour of his mind wholly unimpaired.
He was capricious and fretful, and :equired much coaxing
to keep him in good-humour. It must, we fear, be added
that the love of money had grown upon him and that he
thought more about his allowances, and less about his
duties, than might have been expected from so eminent
a member of so noble a profession.” And a little further on
he contrived to aim a common stroke against both
Commander-in~Chief and Governor-General, by saying that
Capte ‘on most questions concurred with Hastings, who did
his best by assiduous courtship, and by readily granting the
most exorbitant allowances, to gratify the strongest passions
of the old soddier.” This, remember, of the two men who,
the one by his statesmanship and moral courage, the other
by his*high qualities in the field, saved the Carnatic, and
with it British India! Verily it might be supposed that
the profession of an essayist is to defame his fellow-men.
The imperfect account in the preceding pdges of the
struggle wit® Hyder Ali has been givefl in the greater
K
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detail in order that some idea mday be conveyed to the
reader of the unsurpassable courage, self-sacrifice, and
devotion, whether in Council, in administration, or in
operations by land and sea, which were exhibited by
Hastings, by Coote, and by Hvghes. Compare their deeds,
as narrated, with the imputations of baseness made by
Macaulay! Was Warren Hastings bent only on wheedling
and bribing when, in impassioned terms, he adjuied the
veteran Commander-in-Chief to lcave his comparatively
casy pet at Calcutta, and to stand furth in his own person
4s the vindicator of the rights and honour of the British
arms? Was Coote swayed only by love of meney, was he
thinking only of allowances, when n 1esponse to the
Governor-Geneial’s appeal, he sailél at once for Madras Yo
face a campaign of cxceptional fatigue, waged against
almost desperate odds?  Was he so failing in bodily activity
when he marched a hundied and fifty miles under an Indian
sun to cffect a junction with Pearce’s column, and thus
baffle the movements of Tippoo? Or was he wanting in
endurance when, not many hours after he had fallen uncon-
scious in his tent, he pushed on in a palanquin to relieve
Vellore? Was the mind impaired which planned and
executed the brilliant tactics of Porto Novo and Arni, which
snatched victory fivin the extreme of peril and drove a
host of mer befoie a handful? Docs he stand before us at
any moment thioughout that terrible conflict as other than
the intrepid and sagacious commander, ready to risk life
and reputation if only he can servc his country’s intererts,
and maintain his army's fame? But it seems that a soldier
may be all this and may finally give up his last breath on
behalf of the Siate, with the reward of being described by
a popular wiiter as a failure in mind and body, and anxious
only for exotbitant allowances. May not the words quoted
above be justly held yp as a sample of the want of fairness,
as well as want of accuracy, with which this essay was
penned ? But another was at least equally slandered. Eyre
Cante’s ceryices faust ever rank among the greatest rendered
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to our country by any military man. Yet in doing justice
to his exploits it must not be forgotten that to the Governor-
General the conduct of the war, so difficult and so glorious,
was due. It was his genius which irradiated and his
tenacity which maintained the conflict. But for the Bengal
Government, Coote might well have said, we could not go
on for a week. And the Bengal Government was Warren
Hastings.



CHAPTER VI
CHEIT SING

CHEIT SING, Rajah of Benares, figured conspicuously in
Burke’s rhetaiic on the 1mpeachment of Warren Hastings,
and to this day his supposed monge loom Jarge, it is
believed, in the minds of all readers of Macaulay. To those,
comparatively few at the present tdime, who study Burké's
speeches,and to the much smaller number who chance to dip
into the Articles of Impeachment. it must appear that in
the descriptions of wrong and spoliation laid so vividly before
them there is portrayed as an object fot their sympathy one
of the old hereditary princes of India, whose position was
hallowed by antiquity. Hundreds, perhaps thousands, of
English readers have approached the subject in this belief,
and have felt that they had good authority for so believing
Yet there is something that borders on the grotesque in such
an illusion. L.est there should be any suggestion of exaggera-
tion or unfairness in these words we venture to borrow from
the statement, as clear as it is authoritative, of Sir Alfred
Lyall in his Warren Hastings.

The grandfather of Cheit Sing, with whom Hastings had
to deal, was a small landholder who acquired some wealth
and local influence during the troubled period of the Mogul
Empire’s dissolution, anc' who obtained the tifle of Rajah
for his son Bulwunt Sing. When the Vizier of Oude took
possession of the country, Rajah Bulwunt Sing held qunder
him the lucrative office of farmer and collector of the revenue
in Benares and Ghazipur; and when those districts were
about to be transferred by the Vizier to the English, the Rajah
wrote offering to hold them from the CalcuttaJ/Government
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on the same terms. Such independence as Bulwunt Sing
managed to obtain he derived from the protection of the
English, who were interested in strengthening and support-
ing the possessor of lands which ran along their north-
western frontier, and interpgsed between their districts and
very turbulent neighbours. Accordingly Cheit Sing, who
succeeded his father, had received from the Vizier of Oude,
through the intervention of Hastings himself, a formal grant
confirming his tenure as zemindar or landholder of the estate
which had thus come into the hands of the family. The
Benares Rajah was .undoubtcd]y holding his lands on a
mere zemingdaree grant from the Vizier of Oude, who levied
heavy fines upon him, when the territory was ceded by the
Vizier to the Company*under a trcaty which transferred, as
between the two contracting partics, the sovereignty over
the Benares district to the Company. The English Govern-
ment settled the amount of the annual revenue, or share of
the rent, to be paid upon the whele estate, and continued
the grant to Cheit Sing upon this and other stipulated con-
ditions, with a guarantee that the annual demand should not
be increased.! So far Sir Alfred Lyall. But it was the
annual demand, and not the occasional contribution, to which
the guarantee applied; and this difference of permanent
and temporary liability on the part of Cheit Sing was the
rock on which so many disputants, at the time of the im-
peachment and thereafter, have constantly split. The ordi-
nary payment of the zemindar was not to be altered, but
jest as in our own feudal system in mediaeval times, so in
the customary relations between all Indian sovereigns and
their tributaries, there was inherent in the nature of the tenure
an obligatign to aid the suzerain on occasions of exceptional
danger and difficulty. This was the position always openly
avowed by Warren Hastings, and consistently upheld by
him ; this was the ground on which he defended his action
in calling upon Cheit Sing, a vassal of the Company, to
furnish additiona! men and*money for the Mahratta war ;
! Lyall, pp. 118, 119, 120,
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and this, it should be added, was the contention supported
by Pitt in the House of Commons, when he said that the
right (i. e. of levying a fine on the Rajah) had been exercised
and acquiesced in, and was indisputably transferred, with
the territory, to the Company.,

But, it may be said, did not Pitt vote for impeachment
on the Benares charge? Yes, he did so. to his great dis-
credit with his own party at the time and to his condemna-
tion, not unmixed with susplcxon as to his motive, by an
impartial posterity.! "He excused his votc on the ground
that though the right to finc could not be disputed, the
amount levied was (as he thought fit to describe it) so un-
precedented and oppressive that he could not defend it
A pretence more elusive and inconsistent on the part of the
speaker, and more irreconcilcable with the facts, was nevet
made by any orator or statesman. Cheit Sing, before the
tranfer of the territory, had been fined more than once by
the Vizier of Qude, and on one occasion the fine levied and
paid cxceeded the amount of the sum demanded by the
Governor-General. Nor can it be doubted that the whole of
the requisitions might have been met by the Rajah, had he
so chosen, without oppression or any real impoverishment.
The starement of Warren Hastings at the Bar of the
Commons, the speech of Thurlow in the Upper House, and
the unanswerable array of facts proved at the trial, secured
a ready verdict of acquittal from the Lords on this unfounded
Article of impeachment.

But let us, a< the Scotch lawyers are accustomed to say,
condescend o particulars in this matter. The details are
instructive. Macaulay, in his account of the Benares inci-
dent, is just as inaccurate as he shows himself in his narrative
of the Rohilla war and his story of Nuncoomar’s arrest and
trial. He start. with the assumption, of course unproved,
that Warren Hastings was on the search for some one to
despoil, and that he fixed on Cheit Sing as his immediate
object. Maacaulay states, quite truly, that the Rajah had

! In confirmationsof this, see the notc at the end of the chapter.
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already been required to pay five lacs of rupees and had
done so; and had been further requisitioned for another
similar sum, in regard to which he was extremely tardy.
But he then abandons fact for fiction, and asserts that
¢ Hastings was determined to plunder Cheit Sing, and for
that end to fasten a quarrel upon him. Accordingly the
Rajah was now required to keep a body of cavalry for the
service of the Government.” The statement, as it stands,
with its innuendo, is absolutely unfounded. What happened
about the cavalry was this. At & consultation held on
September 26, 1780, Sir Eyre Coote, as Commander in
Chief, presented a plah for the defence of Bengal and Oude
which he had sketched at the desire of the Board. As an
ifivasion of Behar wassexpected, Sir Eyic Coote proposed
to station a large body of infantry in that province, togethe:
with two 1egiments of horse and one thousand or as many of
Cheit Sing’s cavalry as they could procure. The object of the
plan suggested was to protect both the English provinces
and the adjacent tributary and allied states fiom Mahratta
spoliation, and it was only just that those states should
aid in the defence. This was the origin of the demand made
on Cheit Sing for cavalry. It was not suggested by Warren
Hastings, but by Eyre Coote , yet Macaulay fathers it on
the Governor-General, with the addition that he asked for
the cavalry in order to pick a quarrel and extoit money.
On the 2nd November following, the attention of the Board
was again called to the want of cavaliy, and the Governor-
(reneral was requested to write to Cheit Sing for such as he
could spare. In December, the Resident of Benares wrote
to Warren Hastings that he had repeatedly piessed the
Rajah on the subject of the cavalry, but could obtain no
answer. The next month he wrote that the Rajah said he
hadenly thirteen hundred in his service, and that all but two
hundre.d and fifty were absolutely necessary for collecting the
revenue.

The truth is that Cheit $ing at this critigal period, like
many othes vassals at divers times and places, had begun to
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calculate on the chances of a change of masters. He knew
the embarrassments of the English Government in the south
of India ; he knew that the French were at hand with ships
and men ; he knew that the Nizam was hostile to us and
the Mahrattas in arms on our confines. The events of 1857
have rcad us a lesson for ever on the effect which any
threatened lapse of English rule may have on the Native
mind. Cheit Sing might have been expected to be faithful.
He owed his original advancement to the personal influence
of Warren Hastings ; he had been'protected by the Calcutta
Government, and had reccived much, perhaps too much;
consideration.  All this was forgotterf when the chance pre-
sented itself that the English might be driven out, and that
provinres might be won in the gengral scramble. He was
intriguing with the Mahrattas, a covert traitor to his alle-
giance, rcady to sidc with the winning party. For this he
had raised troops. and had accumulated treasure. But it
was a dangerous game to play with a ruler so resolute and
so able as Warren Hastings, who knew everything through
his secret service, and understood cvery shift and turn of the
Rajah’s subterfuge. Before leaving Calcutta the Governor-
General obtained credentials from the Council which, besides
granting to him power to make treatics with any of the
Chiefs or Powers of Hindustan, also invested him ‘with full
power and authority to form such arrangements with the
Rajah of Benares for the better government of the zemin-
dary, and to perform such acts for the improvement of the
interest which the Honoiable Company possesses in it, as hg
shall think fit and consonant to the mutual relation and
actual engagement subsistirg between the Company and the
Rajah’. It is clear enouzh that the days when thg Governor-
General was tied down and limited in his policy at every turn
were now past. .
Warren Hastings had placed Wheler who, now tcha.t the
evil influence of Francié had been withdrawn, showed him-
self a loyal gnd capable colleague, at the head of the
administration during his own absence, and invested him
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with’full powers. He confided to Wheler that he had deter-
mined to fine Cheit Sing fifty lacs of rupees, as a just
punishment for his contumacy. In this determination Wheler
fully concurred. When the Governor-General arrived at
Benares he transmitted to the Rajah a statement of his
offences. He reminded him that the danger to which the
Malwa column® had been exposed on its march had been
due to his failure in paying the war subsidy of 1780 which
he had covenanted to gneet: ‘Relying on this agreement
and promise I gave orders to Mr. Fowke, who was then
“resident at this plage, to receive money and to remit to
Colonel Carnac for the pay of the army which had been
ordered to march towards the Province of Malwa, and
! made no other provision for it, such was my confidence
in your faith ; but you deceived me, and after having made
the fitst payment of a few rupees, either consulting the
temper of thc times, or conforming to a premeditated
design, you by shifts and pictexts withheld the remainder
until the army for whose use it was intended was reduced
to the last state of distress. Many hundreds deserted, and
had an enemy at that time appeared against them their
total destruction had been incvitable. In all this daily appli-
cations were made to you by the Resident, and I wrote
repeated letters to you, but you paid no regard to either.
. . . Besides this, I required, in the name of the Governor-
Gencral and Council by letter, and ordered Mr, Fowke to
repeat the requisition in person, that you should furnish a
hody of horse to assist and act with the armies of the Com-
pany, and when Mr. Markham succeeded Mr. Fowke I gave
him orders to repeat the demand, which he did accordingly
with frequgnt and almost dazly importunity, limiting the
number to 1,500 and afterwards to 1,000, To this demand
you xeturned evasive answers, nor to this hour have you
contribyted a single horseman.’ And the letter closes with

an intimation that the Goveinor-General well knew there
3 k]
' This forgg had been sent by the Governor-General to effect
a diversion, and thus relieve General Goddard.
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were other matters behind: ‘I pass over the instances of
your conduct in which, through the means of your secret
agents, you have endeavoured to excite disorder in the
Government on which you depend, and your neglect of the
duty which you owe to it, and to the subjects of this zemin-
dary by suffering the daily perpetration of robberies and
murders, even in the streets of the city of Benares itself, to
the great and public scandal of the English name, and in
violation of onc of the ¢onditions og which you received the
confirmation of this zemindary. But as the two foregoing
instances amount to a direct chargg of disaffection and
infidelity to the Government on which you dgpend, and
happened at a time in which it was your duty most es-
pecially to have exerted yourself %in the support of it%
interests, I have therefore judged it proper to statc them
to you thus fully in writing, and to requirc your answer to
them, and this I expect immcdiately.™?

To these charges the Rajah replied that he obeyed the
orders ‘ with the utmost readiness. . . . I sent first one lac of
rupees with an answer to your letter. Afterwards, having
paid to Mr. Fowke the sum of one lac and seventy thousand
rupees, I sent a letter requesting a further allowance of time
to make some preparations. To this I received no reply.
It being no time to delay, notwithstanding this I was not
a moment inattentive to this concern, and as soon as my
Buxey ariived I paid immediately the remaining part of the
sum. The remitting of this to the army did not depend
upon me ; if any delay happened on this head I could ngt
help it. If, besides the payment of the money, the remit~
tance of it 10 the army had rested with me, a delay of this
kind should not have happened.”* The answer, says Mr.
Forrest, was false in all its parts. He did not pay the first
lac until August 5, 1780, though the demand was made in
the end of June, and then he refused to pay any furgher sum
until he had got an answer to a letter he had written to

! For thi’s letter, see State P;pers, Vol. I1I, pp. 782-3.
* State Papes$, Vol 111, p. 785.
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Hastings requiring further time to dispose of his effects. To
this representation the Rajah said he received no reply,
though a reply was immediately sent strongly expressive of
the Board’s displeasure at his excuses, which they said they
knew to be futile. This expression of displeasure did not
hasten the payment, which was not finally made until October
18, 1780, although the Rajah promised it in the month of
July. As to the cavalry, Cheit Sing affirmed that he col-
lected five hundred horses, but that e received no informa-
tion as to where they should be sent. ‘I remained astonished.’
This answer was justly described by Warren Hastings as not
only unsatssfactory in substance, but offensive in style. It
yas an indication of the spirit of revolt which Cheit Sing
had for some time cherished. < Under these alarming appear-
ances of the Rajah’s conduct and disposition,” wrote the
Governor-General to the Council, ‘I conceived myself in-
dispensably obliged to form some immediate and decisive
plan for obviating their consequences, and for the preserva-
tion of the Company’s rights and intcrests in this zemindary.
To have left him in the full exercise of powers which he had
notoriously abused, and which it was to be apprehended he
would employ to the most dangerous purposcs, was totally
inconsistent with the maxims of justice and prudence. To
divest him entirely of the zemindary, though justifiable on
the grounds stated above, would be attended with an appear-
ance of severity, and might have furnished grounds for con-
struction unfavourable to the credit of our Government and
t® my own reputation.” After weighing the whole case, the
Governor-General ordered the Resident to put Cheit Sing
under arrest in his palace, and he sent two companies of the
sepoys he Bad brought with him to Benares to mount guard
on that building. Unfortunately they were sent without
amnfunition. A large body of armed men from the fortress
of Ramnagar crossed the river suddenly and massacred
the whole partys Cheit Sing escaped to his fortress of
Luteefgarh, and never again cntered Benates, Warren
Hastings fot a short time was in imminei®t peril, but several
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battalions marched up to his relief, and he was safely con-
veyed to Chunai,! where he carried on the business of
Government, and negotiated treaties with the Mahrattas,
in unruffled serenity.

But he had been none the less impressed by the scenes
he had gone through, and he wrote to his colleagues : * My
regrets for the past arc personal. I shall ever retain the
painful remembrance of that scene of blood of which I have
been too ncar a spectator, and which no future return of
prosperity can ever efface from my mind, but in the prospect
before me I think that 1 have every reason to expect the
happiest termuination of it 1n the extension of the power and
influence of the Company, and that the past example
may contribute to the permanency of both by prompting
us to guard against the sccret growth of the like evil which
has produced it On August 27, 1781, he had written,
inter ala: * The Rajah’s forces are divided between Ram-
nagar and Luteefgarh. His fixed cstablishment excecds
10,000 men, and all his recruits bear arms. Major Popham
is encamped on the plain cast of the fort. I expect to be
joined by a regiment from Cawnpore which are ordered for
my guard at Lucknow. Lieutenant Polhill, with six com-
panies of the Nabob’s guaid, are at hand, and Major Moses
Crawford’s battalions. My only distress is the want of
money, and is great.’? The Governoi-General was de-
livered from all difficulties by the victorious advance of his
officers. Captain Blair totally defeated a force of some 4,000
of the Rajah’s best men, capturing guns and tumbrils; agd
Major Popham carried the two fortresses of Lutteefpoor and
Pateeta by some brilliant operations. The whole zemindary
fell into our hands, and Cheit Sing, who might hgve retained
the estate and the rule if he had submitted quietly, found
himself a fugitive and exile, with no one to thank buthim-
self for the falschood apd contumacy which had cgpsed his
ruin.

1 A fort ;itna.ted on a ligh rock above the Ganges.
2 State Papers, Vol. 111, p. 798. * Ibid.,%. 784.
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On September 25, 1781, Warren Hastings returned to
Benares, where he found the city restored to a state of order
and tranquillity.’ He issued proclamations offering pardon
to all except Cheit Sing and his brother,  whom their late
rebellious conduct and their rancour manifested to our
nation in the deliberate murder of many of our soldiers,
and even unarmed passengers who had the misfortune to
fall into their hands, precluded from every title of mercy. 2
A grandson of Rajah PBulwunt Sing by a daughter was
proclaimed Rajah with great form and s<olemnity. The
Governor-General alsp took steps for the protection of the
persons and property %of the inhabitants of the sacred city.
When the sovereignty of Benares was ceded to the Company
the superintendence of the police was formally made over by
the English to Cheit Sing, but the artangement had proved
a disastrous failure. ‘From this period,” wrote Warren
Hastings, ‘ the appearance of public justice was gradually
effaced till at last, without any system of police, any courts
of judicature, or any awe of the sovereign power, the in-
habitants of Benares were guilty of enormities and crimes
which reflected the greatest disgracc on the Government to
which they were subjects. The relations and dependants
of the Rajah, or the merchants whose credit was useful in
the payment of his revenue, might violate the rights of their
fellow-citizens with impunity, and the sacred character of
a Brahmin or the high rank of the offender were con-
siderations which stamped a pardon on the most flagitious
cgmes,’ ?

To remedy this scandalous state of things, Warren Hast-
ings established distinct departments for the police and for
the civil angl criminal jurisdiction of the city, and placed
them under the regulation and control of a chief magistrate
who was subject to the immediate orders of the Governor-
Generalgand Council. The person, chosen by him to fill
this office was a Mahomedan, Ali Ibrahim Khan, ‘a man

' State Pagers, Inirod., p. kevi. * Itud., Vol. 11, p. 806.
® Ibid,, p. 515.
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who has long been personally known to myself and, I believe,
to many individuals of our Government, and whose character
for moderation, disinterestedness, and good sense will beai
the tests of the strictest enquiry.’? Regarding the measures
which the Governor-General had taken for the better ad-
ministration of the city of Benares, his colleagues expressed
their waimest approval in the following terms: ¢ Your
guarded attention to the sccurity and convenience of the
pilgrims, and your abolition of those taxes and embarrass-
ments which have giown against them from the rapacity
of a corrupt Goveinment, are peculiarly to your credit.
They added : ‘Lven in a political view your arpangements
upon the subject are interesting, and may lead to the
most important consequences. Aly Hindustan, from th®
sources of the Ganges to Cape Comorin, is intcrested in
the happy regulation of the police of Benares, and the
unpolluted tranquillity of its colleges. The leading Mah-
rattas with whom we arc at war aie strongly attached 1o
this supposed residence of the purity of their 1eligion. From
these considerations we beg leave to suggest to you whether
it would not be proper to publish in the different languages
of India the regulations you have adopted. A very short
time will spread them all over Hindustan, which, with the
reports of the pilgrims upon theit return, cannot but impress
the natives with the mild liberality and atteation of our
Government. Fven among the diffcient nations of Europe
whose learned enquiries have been of late particularly
directed to the religious antiquities and carly knowledge pf
the sciences in this country, it will be matter of satisfaction
and admiration and of consequent credit to our Government
that Benares, in which you were so dangerougly exposed,
should remain so deeply indebted to your careful regulation
and protection.’

It might be curious; and perhaps instructive, if any who
read what was thus said in appreciatiqn of the deeds of
Warren Hastings at Benares by the men who were on the

Y State Pagess, Vol. 111, p. 816, ? Ibid% p, 820.
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spot, by those who knew the persons involved in the trans-
actions, and the facts as they occurred at the time, would
place the above testimony side by side with the furious
rhetoric which was poured out by Burke on the Impeach-
ment. The fundamental error of the orator, which vitiated
the whole of his argument, was that he ticated Cheit Sing
as an independent prince, who had been unjustly compelled
to pay five lacs of rupees for three years consecutively,
to raise and equip trogps for a wgr in which he had no
concern, and who had been finally put under arrest and
fined fifty lacs of rupges for contumacy, because he did not
at once copply with these exactions. Now the simple
answer to all Buike’s elaboration of statement is that the
ficts of the case arc th& other way. So far from being an
independent prince, Cheit Sing had been a vassal of the
Vizier of Oude, liable to requisition and fine, in addition to
his annual rent, and when the Vizier transferred Benares by
treaty to the English rule, the Rajah, with all his dues and
liabilities, was transferred with it. But more than that:
the Bengal Government proceeded, after the transfer, to
renew the grant of the zemindary to the Rajah, and the
deeds of grant are in existence and tell their own tale.
They are in the ordinary form of zemindary grants, and do
not in any sentence suggest so much as a hint of any in-
dependence on the part of the Rajah. He was simply
a zemindar of the Company, and liable to contribute to its
necessities in times of urgent need. There never was a time
of more urgent need than that when troops and money
were requisitioned from Cheit Sing.! No doubt the fine was
heavy, but the treasure found in his fortresses, and the
amount ofsgold and silver which he was known to have
carried off with him, proved that he could have paid the
amount demanded and have still been a wealthy man. In
enforcing these demands, says Mr. Forrest, Hastings was
actuated by no pegrsonal or malicious motives, but was com-
pelled by the pressing exigeficies of the hour 2nd the desire

Y State Papers, Introd., p. bovei.
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to saye India to Great Britain. ‘I had no other view in it,’
he said, ‘than that of relieving the necessities of the
Company by an act which I considered to be strictly
just.'?

The ‘happiest termination’, which he himself had fore-
seen, undoubtedly came to pass. Law and order were
established, and justice was permanently organized, in the
city of Benares. The sanctity of the Hindoo religion, in its
ancient seat, was securegd. It was in return for these benefits
that the inhabitants erected a temp’le in honour of Warren
Hastings, as their protector and benefactor. When this
fact was mentioned during the procéedings in support of
the impeachment, Burke replied that he believed the Hindoos
built femples to the dcities of smailpox and murder, anli
that he would not dispute the claim of M1 Hastings to be
admitted to such a pantheon. Macaulay speaks of this
‘utterance as a surprisingly fine example of parliamentary
oratory. It is possible that a moie impartial taste may
differ from such a conclusion.

It was on May 21, 1781, that the Governor-General
proposed to the Council that he should visit Oude in
order to have an interview with the Nawab, whose province
had fallen into a state of great disorde: and confusion. He
also stated that he hoped to take advantage of his visit to
Oude to conclude negotiations with the Rajah of Benares.
The statement that he then made to the Council does not
suggest that he in any way anticipated the disturbances
that arose at Benares, and it was probably believed that gjl
would pass off quietly. Sir Alfred Lyall seems to throw
the whole blame of the disaster on Warien Hastings , and
if it is meant that it would have been more prudent to take
greater precautions, such as securing the presence of a much
more powerful force before proceeding to place the Rajah
under arrest, few readers (having of course the advantage of
forming an opinion aftér the event) will be found to differ.
But if more & meant, if it is proposed to infer that a rebel-

1aState Papers, Introd., p. Ixix.
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lious outbreak, largely supported from outside, was due to
the action of the Governor-General, a great mistake is made.
It must be obvious to all who look closely into the matter
that Cheit Sing had a plot against the English rule ready
to his hand, that he was counting on help in his design,
and that the bomb would have burst sooner or later, at the
more or less favourable opportunity. It burst prematurely
on the artest of the Rajah, but for that it is unfair to blame
Warrett Hastings, and it §s not only wafair but unhistorical.
The outside help came from the Begums of Oude and their
¢reatures, and it is to them that attention must now be
turned.!

® Macaulay strongly censares the conduct of Pitt in dealing with
the Benares charge. He narrates how Pitt maintained'in his speech’
on Fox's motion that. theGovernor-General was justified in ealfing:
on the Rajah Yor pecuniary assistance, and in imposing a fine when
that assistance was contumaciously withheld. He also thought that
the conduct of the Governor-General during the iusurrcction had
been distinguished by ability and presence of mind. He censured,
with great bitterness, the conduct of Francis, both in India and in
Parliament, as most dishonest and malignant. The necessary infer-
ence from Pitt's arguments seemed to be that Hastings ought to
be honourably acquitted, and both the friends and opponents of the
Minister expected from him a declaration to that effect. To the
astonishment of all parties, he concluded by saying that, though
he thought 1t right in Hastings to fine Cheit Sing for contumacy,
yet the amount of the fine was too great for the occasion. On this
ground, and on this ground alone, did Mr. Pitt, applauding every
other part of the conduct of Hastings with regard to Benares, declare
that he should vote for Mr. Fox’s motion.

®he House was thunderstruck; and it well might be so, If
Mr. Pitt’s view of the case of Cheit Sing were correct, there was
no ground for an impeachment, or even for a vote of censure. We
can see, we think, in what way a man of sense and honour might
have been induced to take any course respecting Hastings, except
the course which Mr. Pitt took. With great diffidence, we give it
as our %pinion that the most correct course would have been to
impeach on the Rohilla charge, and to acqujt on the Benares charge.
Had the Benares charge appeared to us in the same light in which
it appeared to Mr. Pitt, we should, without hesitationg have voted
for acquittal on that charge. The one course which it 1s inconceivable
that any man ofa tenth part of Mr. Pitt’s abilitie®can have honestly

L
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taken was the course which he took. He acquitted Hastings on the
Rohilla charge. He softenec down the Benares charge till it became
no charge at all; and then he pronounced that it contained matter
of impeachment.

The general astonishment was the greater, because, only twenty-
four hours before, the members on whom the Minister could depend
had received the usual notes from the Treasury, begging them to
be in their places and to vote against Mr. Fox's motion. It was
asserted by Mr. Hastings that, early on the morning of the very day
on which the debate took place, Dundas called on Pitt, woke him,
and was closeted with hirxy many hours. The result of this conference
was a determination to give up the late Governor-General to the
vengeance of the Oppnsition. It was impossible even for the most
powerful Ministci tu carry all bis followess with him in so strange
a course. Several persons high n office, the Attorney-General,
Mr. Grenville, and Lord Mulgrave, divided agammst Mr. Pitt. But
the devoted adherents who stood by fhe head of the Government
withuat asking questions, were sufficiently numerous to turn the
scale. That good and great man, Mr. Wilberforce, often related
the events of this remarkable might. He deccribed the amazement
of the House, and the bitter reflections which were mutterea against the
Prime Minister by some of the habitual supporters of the Government.
Mr. Wilberforce, we are bound to add, fully believed that his friend
was sincere, and that the suspicions to which this mysterious affair
gave rise were altogether unfounded.

Those suspicions, indeed, were such as 1t is painful to mention.
The friends of Hastings, most of whom, 1t is to be observed, generally
supported the administration, affirmed that the motive of Pitt and
Dundas was jealousy. Hastings was personally a faveurite with the
Kmg. He was the 1dol of the Last India Company and of its
servants. If he were absolved by the Comuions, seated among the
Lords, admitted to the Board of Control, closely allied with the
strong-minded and imperious Thurlow, was 1t not almost certamn
that he would soon draw to himself the entire management of Eastern
affairs? Was it not possible that he might become a formidable
rival in the Cabinet? If the Commons impeached Hastings all
danger was at an end. The proceedings, however they might terminate,
would probably last some years. Such were the metives attributed
by a great part of the public to the young Minster, whose ruling
passion was generally believed to be avarice of power.—See Essay.



CHAPTER VII
THE BEGUMS

WuEN the former Vizier of Oude, Sujah-ul-Dowla, so
prominent in the story ofithe RohillasWar, came to die, he
left bechind him treasure, as was believed, to the amount of
£2,000,000. But he a\.lso left heavy debts, including his
obligations te the Government at Calcutta, and also a large
amount of pay due to his army. The trcasure which,
aclording to one accourft afterwards given, had been ac-
cumulated by the late Vizier for use in some possible
emergency, had been deposited in the vaults of the zenana
at Fyzabad. It is clear that this money really belonged
to the State, and even supposing that there were other
claims that might be advanced, it is certain that the first
usc to which it should have been applied was to discharge
public obligations. But here the Begums came in. They
were residents in and mistresses of the zcnana, and were in
practical possession of the treasure. These two princesses,
one the mother, the other the widow, of the late Vizier,
asserted that he had made a will in their favour and
that the whole of the large sum in question was their ex-
clusive property. It must be observed that never, at any
stage of a dispute that was prolonged for years, and that
led to much violent contention, was this will produced.
Neither of these ladies, it may be safely asserted, had any
legal grounds for their claim. By the Mahomedan law
the widow would have becn entitled to one-eighth of
the restdue after the debts had been paid, and the grand-
mother (ag any rate during the life of the widow) had no
claim to inheritancg. DBut the Begums had on their side
the fact of possession, made all the stronger by*the imme-
morial custome®of the East, which regards a forcible invasion

L2
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of the zenana as an act not to be contemplated. Asaph-
ul-Dowla, the new Vizier, a weak, irresolute man under
any circumstances, was mortally afraid of his mother;
she, on her part, is reported to have said to the English
Resident on one occasion, that she would throw the whole
treasure into the river rather than allow her son to share it;
and on another that if he (the Resident) would only stand
on one side quietly, she would soon drive the Nawab (her
son) with his ministers and troops into the stream. Nor was
the boast altogether empty, for the Begums maintained an
armed force of several thousand men, commanded by their
two chief eunuchs, and they governed extensive fiefs,
independent of their sovereign. This was the amiable and
helpless Jady whom Sheridan, it bis famous speech, de-
scribed pathetically as an outraged parent, declaring that
Warren Hastings had placed a dagger in the hands of her
son, and made him point it against the bosom of his own
mother !

Asaph-ul-Dowla was the more pressed for moncy because
the settlement made with him at the death of his father,
made by the hostile majority of the Council in the teeth
of strong protests by the Governor-General, had largely
added to his liabilities. Francis and his abettors had
increzsed the hire of the English troops, and at the same
time had deprived the Vizier of the mecans of paying for
them. This was onc of the inconceivably rash steps which
the triumvirate took soon after their arrival from England.
In October, 1775, Asaph-ul-Dowla, hard pressed at aace
both by the Company and by his army, commenced a
negotiation with the Begums through Mr. Bristow, then
the Resident in place of Mr, Middleton. Mr.Bristow, after
informing the Board that neither the zemindars nor the
ryots would pay their rents, wrote as follows: ‘ Totadd to
this unfortunate circymstance, the Nawab has not yet been
able to obtain any moncy from the Begum. Immediately
on his retutn from Fyzabad' he stated his distresses to me,
and begged of \ne to usec my endeavours td persuade the
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Begum to assist him. I wished to have declined complying
with his Excellency’s request, especially after he had
indirectly objected to my having any correspondence with
her, but being sensible of his necessities I consented upon
the condition of his not expecting of me to use any violent
means. [ accordingly went to Fyzabad and explained par-
ticularly in writing to the Begum how impossible it was
for the Nawab to conduct his Government without her
assistance, and likewise jnsinuated tp her that she could
not complain of him, for he had granted her an additional
jagir of four lacs a year for the sums he had already bor-
rowed of her, and treafed her with great respect. I further
insinuated to her that the treasures she possessed were the
tr@asures of the State, amshe had not succeeded to them by
any legal right, and they had been hoarded up to provide
against an emergency. That that emergency was arrived,
and I recommended it to her to spare his Excellency the
sum of fifty lacs as a donation. If this did not please her,
to let the treasure be divided according to the laws of the
Koran, or else grant him a loan, and that I could engage for
the repayment of it."’

I1 may be observed here, parcnthetically, that the com-
munication quoted from above was made, not by any
trusted adherent of the Governor-General, but by the chosen
agent of that majority in the Council who had superseded
Mr. Middleton because he had been nominated by Warren
Hastings and was known to enjoy his confidence. The
whple proceedings were at this time under the direction
of the triumvirate who must be held responsible for them,
and it was their man, Mr. Bristow, nominated to carry out
their policys who stated that the treasure was a State
treasure, laid up for an emergency, and demandable by
the Seate authority. But when, a few years after, Mr.
Middletop, then restored to the Remdency, under the direc-
tion of the Govergor-General, demanded that the Begums
should hand over, not the whole of the treasure, but so

! State Papers, Vol. 11, p. 439.¢
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much thereof as would defray the debt due to the Calcutta
Government, the charge is made that it is a criminal
spoliation, a robbery of two helpless women.

¢ After much persuasion,’ says Mr. Bristow, ‘the Begum
agreed to pay the Nawab twelve lacs of rupees on condition
that the Company secured to her the possession of her
jagirs for life, and that the Nawab did not interfere with
her on any account. I excused myself because of the
insufficiency of the sum, but offered to comply with her
terms in case of her grantmg ﬁfty lacs. This I had autho-
rity for from the Nawab, who, on desiring me to undertake
the negotiation, icpeatedly and darnestly expressed his
desire not to usc any violence. And in order to prove
it, he said he would submit ta the Company’s belg
mediator of all differcnces between him and the Begum;
but it was hard, when reduced to such distress, that his
mother should uselessly keep up immense treasuries.” It
was finally agreed between the Nawab and the Begum
that in consideration of his receiving thirty lacs (in addi-
tion to the sum he had already received) on account of his
patrimony he gave the Begum a full acquittal as to the
rest, and secured her jagirs to her without interference for
life. Bristow was guarantec to this treaty on the part of
the Company. The impolicy of the agreement, says Mr.
Forrest, was apparent, but the Governor-General and
Council sanctioned it hecause, as they intor med the Directors,
the urgency of the case required it.!

But the Begum, as might have been expected, was sqon
dissatisfied. She wrote in the following December com-
plaining that whercas it had been agreed that she should
liquidate eleven lacs of the amount by gjving goods,
elephants and camels, and had trusted to Mr. Bristow, as
a party to the agrcement, to see that it was carried out
in a proper manner, the goods nevertheless ha.d been
valued at one fourth ‘of their intrinsic worth, and how was
she to maks up the difference? She appealed to Warren

v State Pgpers, Introd,, p. Ixx; Ibid., Vol. 11§ p. 4309.
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Hastings to help her,and he,who has been perpetually painted
as the robber and oppressor of these ladies, wrote, in a
Minute he prepared upon this letter, as follows: ‘ All my
present wish is that the orders of the Board may be such
as may obviate or remove the discredit which the English
name may suffer by the exercise or cven the appearance
of oppression on a person of the Begum’s rank, character,
and sex. Had the Nawab chosen to make use of the
means with which his own power alone supplied him to
exact money from the *Begum, his®* mother, this Govern-
ment would have wanted a pretext to interfere in her
behalf. But as the rgpresentative of our Government has
become an® agent in this business, and has pledged the
khonour and faith of thc Company for the punctual ob-
servance of the condi’u’ons under which it was concluded,
we have a right to interfere, and justice demands it, if it
shall appear that those engagements have been violated,
and an injury offered to the Begum under the cover of the
authority by which they were contracted. T am therefore
of opinion and recommend that a lctter be written by the
Board to Mr. Bristow commanding him to remonstrate
with the Nawab against the scizurc of the goods as his
own original property, which he received from his mother
in payment of the eleven lacs stipulated to be so made,
to insist on the Nawab's receiving them in payment, and
that he either admit of the valuation which she put upon
them, or that he allow them to be approved by persons
appointed for that purpose by both parties’? But the
majority of the Council, then responsible for all public
acts, either did not take so favourable a view of the
Begum's cause, or else were resolved to oppose everything
recommended by the Governor-General, and ordered that
the letter should be sent to the Resident and an explana-
tion demanded. Monson observed, truly enough: ‘She
should®be informed of the sums of money the late Nawab
owed this Govethment by treaty for services performed,
1 Stale Papers, Vol. 11, p. 471.
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and which were not liquidated at his death; that she
received the advantages of the Rohilla conquest, the plunder
of those countries being deposited with her; as she suc-
ceeded therefore to all the Nawab’s wealth, it is just that
she should discharge the demands due for those services.
by which she is the principal gainer. The Vizier's estate
has not been divided according to the usual custom of
Mahomedan princes.’? Just so. But why, when Warren
Hastings subsequently demanded from the treasure in the
Begum’s hands paymtnt of the money due to the English
Government, was it called spoliation and robbery? In
January, 1776, Mr. Bristow wrote 4> thc Board that the
complaints of the Begum were unfounded. "‘ According
to the Koran and the usages of the country the Nawab
could claim an infinitely greater sharc than he has got.
He added: ‘The Begum had great influence in the late
Vizier's time. On the Nawab Asolph’s-ul-Dowla’s acces-
sion he at once placed the whole management in the hands
of Murtezah Khan, which disgusted both her and her
adherents, particularly her eunuchs who had their views
in keeping the wealth in the Begum’s possession. The
principal, Behar Ali Khan, enjoys her entire confidence.’?
In order that the Board should have a knowledge of ‘the
Begum’s sentiments at the present juncture and of her
temper, he enclosed the last letter he had reccived from
that termagant lady, containing threats against her son
and his Minister. This may be tzken as ending the first
part of the Begum history.

But during the five following years the Governor-General
was much disturbed by the worsening condition of the
Qude government. He strongly remonstrated with the
Nawab on his extravagance, the impolicy of his conduct,
and earnestly advised him to dismiss from his presencg the
worthless favcourites with whom he was surrpunded. To
enforce this advice he plainly told him: ¢ The English, if
you do not i;ollow it must brgak off their connexion with

3 State Papers, Vol. 11, p. 472. * Ibid., ppg485-6.
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you altogether’ This was the state of affairs in 1781
when the Governor-General announced to the Council his
intention to visit Oude, with the view of restoring to that
territory a better administration of government and a better
state of finance. The outbreak at Benares caused him to
be detained at Chunar, and while he was there the Vizier
visited him, and a long negotiation took place between
them. It was a difficult moment for both. The Indian
Government was in great distress for money. There were
several armies in the feld, and the demands for supply
were various and immediate. The entire expense of all
military operations fell on the treasury of Bengal, and the
treasury of Bengal was empty. Heavy loans had been
oontrated, the credit of Government was low, and Warren
Hastings, as was indeed his imperative duty, looked to the
chief debtor of the Company for relief. The Vizier of
QOude owed the Company the very large sum of a crore
and a half of rupees, and of coursc the Governor-General
pressed for the money. The Vizier on his side protested
that his funds were exhausted. The Governor-General
knew that this was true; and knew also that it was so
owing partly to the unfair treatment the Vizier had received
from the triumvirate in preceding years, and partly to the
conduct, narrated above, of his mother. Warren Hastings’
feelings towards that lady, whom he had formerly en-
deavourced to befriend, were necessarily changed when he
discovered that she, in concert with the older Begum, was
actually engaged in stirring up insurrection against him.

e knqwledge of the Begum’s complicity in the Benares
outbreak reached the Governor-General, as will presently
be conclusiyely shown, before he settled the terms of a
treaty with the Vizier, and of course that knowledge
coloyged the negotiations.

Let us see what the terms were. As it was absolutely
necessary, if any real improvement Was to be made in his
finances, that the” Vizier sheuld be enabled oto liguidate
his existingydebts, the first article of ths treaty provided
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that the English force in Oude should be reduced to one
brigade, and that the English officers who had been ap-
pointed to the Vizier's corps should be withdrawn. The
Nawab on his part consented to separate his public from
his private expenses; to fix the amount of the latter; to
reform his army; to entrust the public treasury to his
Minister under the inspection of the British Resident.
The second article stipulated: ¢ That as great distress has
arisen to the Nawab’s Government from the military
power and dominion assumed by the jagirdars,! he be
permitted to resume such as he may find necessary, with
a reserve that all such fur the amount of whose jagirs the
Company arc guarantees shall, in case of the’ resumption
of their lands, be paid the amount of their net collectiors
through the Resident in ready moncy.' The article stated
that the resumption of the jagirs should be general and
Wairen Hastings pressed on the Virzier the necessity of
resuming those held by his worthless favourites. The
Nawab was only anxious to resumc those held by his
mother; but this Warren Hastings justly and strenuously
opposed, and a vast number of jagiis were resumed. In
this the Governor-General followed his usual wise and
equitable policy.

But concerning the resumption of the Begum’s jagirs
(which they had used to levy troops and opposc their
Soverecign's rule, as well, of late, as to support icbellion
in Benares) Warren Hastings was fiercely attacked on the
ground that the Bengal Council had guarantecd the Begum’s
possession. Two answers were given to this contention;
and both seem conclusive. Lord Thurlow said in the
House of Lords, when speaking on the matter, ‘ The subjects
of the first country in the world are obliged on all public
occasions to disposc of their property for an equiyalent
when the public good 1cquires such a sacrifice; and in
this case the exper:encc of many years has proved the
necessity ofthe measure’ But Warren Hastings gave the

1 Powerful nobles with great fiefs, and bands of armgd retainers.
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more direct reply that when he consented to the resumption
of the jagirs he was, from intelligence which had reached
him, convinced of the Begum's disaffection. ‘It was not
my opinion only, but it was the general rumour of the
country, that she and her ministers aided and supported
Cheit Sing in his rcbellion.” He referred to the affidavits
which had been put in evidence, as proof of this widespread
rumour. It has been objected that these affidavits must
have becn taken after the resumption had been agreed on ;
but this does not touch the real point. On the 8th
September, Colonel Hannay wrote from Fyzabad to the
Governor-General : ®*This town has more the appearance
of belonging to Cheit Sing than the Vizier. The Begums
fave placed guards '® prevent any of my people going
to the bazaar in it. Within these few days Sheik Chaan,
with near 1,000 horsc and foot, has marched from hence
to Benares (they were raised herc), and I must confess for
my own part I have no doubt but Jowar Ali Khan and
Baha: Ali Khan,! through their agents, stirred up all the
disturbances which extend from hence to Zowey Azimgur.’?
This letter was written eleven days before the treaty of
Chunar was signed.

[n another letter written immediately afterwards, Colonel
Hannay says: ‘I have before told you how violently the
Begum’s people inflame the present disturbances, and in
addition to this the principal Zemindar- and Rajahs have
all certificates under the seal of Cheit Sing that he will
supply them with whatever money they may require for
subsisting all the troops they can raise. In a very short
time I apprebend the greatest part of the Nawab's dominions
will be in he state we are in here, and it is the general be-
lief of every man in this part of the country that the conduct
I have related is a concerted plan for the extirpation of the
English. . . . Should the present disturbances proceed from
a plan of policy, it will be concealed from you as much as

1 The two chief éunuchs of the Beguits.
3 State Papers, Vol. 111, p. 1004,



